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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE DISTRICT OF ALASKA  

 

ORGANIZED VILLAGE OF SAXMAN, 

 

  Plaintiff, 

 

 v. 

 

TIM TOWARAK, in his official capacity as 

Chairman of the Federal Subsistence Board, 

SALLY JEWELL, in her official capacity as 

Secretary of the U.S. Department of Interior, 

and TOM VILSACK in his official capacity as 

the Secretary of the U.S. Department of 

Agriculture,     

 

  Defendants. 

        

      

 

 

 

 

Case No. 3:14-cv-                 

 

 

 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 

AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF (Alaska 

National Interest Lands Conservation Act: 

16 U.S.C. § 3117; Administrative 

Procedures Act: 5 U.S.C. §§ 553, 706(2)(a), 

706(2)(d))   

 

   

 

 

  1. This action seeks declaratory and injunctive relief under section 

807 of the Alaska National Interests Lands Conservation Act (ANILCA), 16 U.S.C. § 

3117, to prevent the Secretaries of Interior and Agriculture from implementing a 2007 

final rule that administratively grouped the rural community of Saxman with the nonrural 
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community of Ketchikan.  Only residents of communities identified by the Federal 

Subsistence Board (FSB) as rural are eligible for ANILCA’s subsistence priority. 50 

C.F.R. 100.5 § (2013).  By grouping Saxman with Ketchikan, the 2007 final rule removes 

Saxman’s rural status and effectively eliminates Saxman’s priority for subsistence uses 

set forth in ANILCA section 804, 16 U.S.C. § 3114, thus denying Saxman’s members 

continued access to the subsistence resources they depend on as a mainstay of their 

livelihood in violation of section 811 of ANILCA, 16 U.S.C. § 3121, and the 

Administrative Procedures Act (APA), 5 U.S.C. § 553, 706(2)(a),(d).  

2. Plaintiffs ask the Court to: (1) declare that the FSB has violated the 

APA and ANILCA by issuing the 2007 final rule; (2) enjoin the 2007 final rule’s 

enforcement and implementation.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

  3. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to section 807 

of ANILCA, 16 U.S.C. § 3117; the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 553, 706(2)(a),(d); 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

(federal question); and 28 U.S.C. § 1362 (Indian tribes).  

  4. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(e) and 16 U.S.C. § 3117. 

PARTIES 

  5. Plaintiff, Organized Village of Saxman (OVS), is a federally 

recognized tribe.  Indian Entities Recognized and Eligible to Receive Services from the 

United States Bureau of Indian Affairs, 79 Fed. Reg. 4,748, 4,753 (Jan. 29, 2014).  OVS 

represents the interests of its tribal members, the majority of whom comprise the 
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community of Saxman. OVS’s mission is, in part, to protect the health, safety, social, 

economic, and cultural well-being of its tribal membership, including protecting its 

members’ subsistence rights.  Saxman maintains a unique social and cultural identity and 

OVS’s members are rural residents and subsistence users.  The people of Saxman rely on 

subsistence fishing and hunting as a mainstay of their livelihoods.  Those tribal members 

that reside in Saxman are entitled to a subsistence priority under section 804 of ANILCA, 

16 U.S.C. § 3114.  Through this action, OVS seeks to protect the subsistence rights of its 

membership pursuant to ANILCA. 

  6. Defendant Tim Towarak is the Chairman of the Federal 

Subsistence Board (FSB) and in that capacity implements the subsistence regulations at 

36 C.F.R. § 242.15 (2014) and 50 C.F.R. § 100.15 (2013), which describe procedures for 

the FSB to make and review rural/nonrural determinations.  He is sued in his official 

capacity. 

  7. Defendant Sally Jewell is the Secretary of the U.S. Department of 

the Interior. Sections 804 and 821 of ANILCA, 16 U.S.C. §§ 3114 and 3121, impose 

nondiscretionary duties on Defendant Secretary of Interior to take appropriate 

administrative action to provide a priority for subsistence uses of fish and wildlife on 

federal public lands for rural residents.  She is sued in her official capacity. 

  8. Defendant Tom Vilsack is the Secretary of the U.S. Department of 

Agriculture.  Sections 804 and 821 of ANILCA, 16 U.S.C. §§ 3114 and 3121, impose 

nondiscretionary duties on Defendant Secretary of Agriculture to take appropriate 

administrative action to provide a priority for subsistence uses of fish and wildlife on 

Case 3:14-cv-00147-SLG   Document 1   Filed 07/25/14   Page 3 of 16



 

Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief      Page 4 of 16 

Organized Village of Saxman v. Towarak, et al.   Case No. 3:14-cv-            

 

federal public lands for rural residents.  He is sued in his official capacity.  

FACTS 

  9.  Saxman is an Alaska Native village located on the southern end of 

Revillagigedo Island in Southeast Alaska.  The Organized Village of Saxman is a 

federally recognized Indian Tribe structured under the Indian Reorganization Act of 

1934, 25 U.S.C. § 461 et seq.  OVS’s members are the descendants of the Tlingit clans 

and kwaans of the Cape Fox and Tongass Tribes, who have resided in Southeast Alaska 

since time immemorial.  The Cape Fox and Tongass Tribes moved to the area now 

known as Saxman from Cape Fox Village and Tongass Island Village beginning in the 

1890s.  Since its settlement, Saxman has maintained a distinct cultural and political 

identity from other communities in Southeast Alaska.  In 1907, President Theodore 

Roosevelt conveyed by executive order forty-acres of land to Saxman for a school.  Exec. 

Order No. 626 (May 4, 1907).  Since 1912, Saxman has maintained its own Alaska 

Native Brotherhood and Sisterhood camps separate from neighboring Ketchikan.  

Saxman incorporated its own municipality in 1929.  Since its settlement, Saxman’s 

residents have continually engaged in the customary and traditional harvests of wild, 

renewable resources for their own use as food, shelter, fuel, clothing, tools, and 

transportation.   

Background of Federal Subsistence Management 

  10. In 1980, Congress enacted Title VIII of ANILCA, 16 U.S.C. §§ 

3111-3126, to ensure that rural Alaskans could continue a subsistence way of life.  16 

U.S.C. § 3101(c).  Title VIII of ANILCA authorizes the Secretaries of Interior and 

Case 3:14-cv-00147-SLG   Document 1   Filed 07/25/14   Page 4 of 16



 

Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief      Page 5 of 16 

Organized Village of Saxman v. Towarak, et al.   Case No. 3:14-cv-            

 

Agriculture to “prescribe such regulations as are necessary and appropriate to carry out 

[their] responsibilities” under ANILCA.  16 U.S.C. § 3124.  Title VIII also permits the 

establishment of an alternative state regulatory structure to protect subsistence uses on 

public lands by rural residents if the State of Alaska (the State) satisfies certain statutory 

criteria.  16 U.S.C. § 3115. 

  11. For a period of years, the State accepted these congressional 

conditions, and on May 14, 1982, the Secretary of the Interior certified the State’s 

statutory and regulatory program for protecting rural subsistence activities as complying 

with ANILCA.  But in December 1989, the Alaska Supreme Court held that the Alaska 

Constitution prohibited the Alaska Legislature from enacting a subsistence priority 

limited to rural residents, rendering the State noncompliant with ANILCA’s rural 

preference requirement.  McDowell v. State, 785 P.2d 1 (Alaska 1989).  Pursuant to 16 

U.S.C. § 3115(d), the federal government therefore became responsible for implementing 

ANILCA on public lands, and it assumed regulatory authority effective July 1, 1990.  

Subsistence Management Regulations for Public Lands in Alaska, Subparts A, B, and C, 

57 Fed. Reg. 22,940 (May 29, 1992).  The Secretaries of Agriculture and Interior 

thereafter created the Federal Subsistence Board to oversee day-to-day management of 

subsistence hunting and fishing on these federal public lands.  36 C.F.R. § 242.1-28; 50 

C.F.R. § 100.1-28.   

  12. Only residents of communities or areas determined to be “rural” 

are eligible under federal subsistence regulations for the subsistence priority.  50 C.F.R. § 

100.5.  One of the FSB’s described powers and duties is to “[d]etermine which 
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communities or areas of the State are rural or non-rural.”  50 C.F.R. § 100.10(d)(4)(ii) 

(2013).  Federal subsistence regulations at 36 C.F.R. § 242.15 and 50 C.F.R. § 100.15 

describe procedures for the FSB to make and review rural/nonrural determinations.  

Although not a statutory requirement, the regulations provide that rural determinations 

shall be reviewed on a 10-year cycle, commencing with the publication of the year 2000 

census.  36 C.F.R. § 242.15(b); 50 C.F.R. § 100.15(b). 

  13. In determining whether a specific community or area in Alaska is 

“rural,” the FSB is required to follow the guidelines contained in 50 C.F.R. § 100.15(a).  

Under those guidelines, a community with a population of 2,500 or less is considered 

rural, unless it “possesses significant characteristics of a nonrural nature or is considered 

to be social and economically part of an urbanized area.” 36 C.F.R. § 242.15(a)(1); 50 

C.F.R. 100.15(a)(1).  In addition, federal regulations require that “communities or areas 

which are economically, socially, and communally integrated shall be considered in the 

aggregate.” 36 C.F.R. § 242.15(a)(6); 50 C.F.R. § 100.15(a)(6).  The regulations do not 

set out specific guidelines on how communities or areas should be evaluated for grouping 

with other communities. 

Saxman’s 1990 Determination as Rural 

14. In 1990 the FSB developed a two-step methodology for making 

rural determinations: (1) grouping “socially and economically integrated” communities, 

and then (2) evaluating the community.  The criteria adopted by the FSB in 1990 to 

determine if communities were socially and economically integrated and should therefore 

be grouped were: (1) Do 15% or more of the working people commute from one 

Case 3:14-cv-00147-SLG   Document 1   Filed 07/25/14   Page 6 of 16



 

Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief      Page 7 of 16 

Organized Village of Saxman v. Towarak, et al.   Case No. 3:14-cv-            

 

community to another? (2) Do communities share a common school district?  And, (3) 

Are daily or semi-daily shopping trips made?  Subsistence Take of Fish and Wildlife on 

Public Lands in Alaska; Final Rural and Non-Rural Determinations, 56 Fed. Reg. 236, 

238 (Jan. 3, 1991).  After grouping, the communities and areas were then categorized by 

population size relative to the population thresholds in the regulations of 2,500 or less 

and greater than 7,000 and evaluated by community characteristics as to their rural and 

nonrural status.  36 C.F.R. § 242.15; 50 C.F.R. § 100.15; 56 Fed. Reg. at 238.  The FSB 

described several community indicators “to decide if a community is rural or non-rural in 

character: use of fish and game[,] development and diversity of the economy, community 

infrastructure, transportation, and educational institutions.” 56 Fed. Reg. at 238.   

15. Initial rural/nonrural determinations were made by the FSB in 

December 1990 and published in the Federal Register shortly thereafter.  56 Fed. Reg. at 

238-39. 

16. Although Saxman met the three “socially and economically 

integrated” criteria to be grouped with Ketchikan, the FSB determined that Saxman was a 

rural community for the purpose of subsistence on federal lands.  56 Fed. Reg. at 238.  In 

so finding, the Board stated that even though Saxman “possesses both rural and non-rural 

characteristics,” it found Saxman to be a rural community because of Saxman’s 

“overriding socioeconomic and cultural characteristics.” 56 Fed. Reg. at 238.  

The 2000 Rural Determinations Decennial Review   

  17.  In 2000, the FSB initiated the first Rural Determinations 

Decennial Review.  The purpose of the FSB’s decennial review was to consider the 
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original 1990 rural determinations “with an emphasis on what has changed since 1990.”  

Subsistence Management Regulations for Public Lands in Alaska, Subpart C; Nonrural 

Determinations, 71 Fed. Reg. 46,416, 46,417 (Aug. 14, 2006).   

  18. Acknowledging the shortcomings of the original criteria, the U.S. 

Fish and Wildlife Service, the lead agency for the Federal Subsistence Management 

Program, contracted with the Institute of Social and Economic Research (ISER) at the 

University of Alaska Anchorage and with Robert J. Wolfe, a socio-cultural 

anthropologist and former Research Director at the Division of Subsistence with the 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game, to develop methodologies for identifying rural and 

nonrural areas of Alaska for purposes of federal subsistence management.  ROBERT J. 

WOLFE & VICTOR FISCHER, METHODS FOR RURAL/NON-RURAL DETERMINATIONS FOR 

FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE MANAGEMENT IN ALASKA, FINAL REPORT, ANALYSIS AND 

RECOMMENDED METHODOLOGY (Jan. 31, 2003).  Their report examined a number of 

variables as potential factors, and in accordance with the overriding goal of using a 

minimal number of criteria that would clearly, effectively, and defensibly distinguish 

between rural and nonrural populations, it developed two measures of primary rural 

concepts for use in identifying rural/nonrural populations: food production and 

population density.  Id. at 1-2, 89-93. 

  19.  The FSB rejected these scientific methods of identifying rural and 

nonrural areas in Alaska and “instead decided to adopt an approach similar to that taken 

in 1990.”  71 Fed. Reg. at 46,417.  The FSB adopted slightly different grouping criteria 

from the 1990 determinations: (1) Do 30% or more of the working people commute form 
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one community to another? (2) Do the communities share a common high school 

attendance area? And, (3) Are the communities in proximity and road-accessible to one 

another?  See Subsistence Management Regulations for Public Lands in Alaska, Subpart 

C; Nonrural Determinations, 72 Fed. Reg. 25,688, 25,690 (May 7, 2007).  The Office of 

Subsistence Management (OSM) noted that “[a]s experience is gained in their use, the 

criteria may be further developed.” OFFICE OF SUBSISTENCE MANAGEMENT, DECENNIAL 

REVIEW OF RURAL DETERMINATIONS: A REPORT TO THE FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE BOARD 

ON INITIAL COMMENTS RECEIVED AND CONSIDERATIONS FOR FURTHER ANALYSIS 7 (July 

15, 2005) (hereinafter OSM 2005 ANALYSIS).   

Revocation of Saxman’s Rural Status 

  20. In 2005, OSM staff conducted an initial review of the rural status 

of Alaska communities using 2000 census data “with an emphasis on what had changed 

since 1990.”  71 Fed. Reg. at 46,417.   From this review, staff compiled a report that 

included a proposed list of communities and areas for which further analysis appeared to 

be necessary.  Id.  This list included Saxman.  OSM 2005 ANALYSIS at 16-17, 19.  The 

public and Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Councils were invited to comment on 

this initial review from August to October 2005.  71 Fed. Reg. at 46,417.   

  21.   In December 2005, the FSB took public testimony and determined 

that additional information and staff analysis was needed for ten communities, including 

Saxman.  Id.  From January to May 2006, OSM staff conducted analyses of each of the 

ten communities.  In June 2006, OSM published the analysis, which laid out social and 

economic characteristics that indicated that Saxman should not be grouped with 
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Ketchikan.  OFFICE OF SUBSISTENCE MANAGEMENT, RURAL DETERMINATIONS 

DECENNIAL REVIEW: ANALYSIS OF COMMUNITIES AND AREAS AS ASSIGNED BY THE 

FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE BOARD 65 (June 23, 2006) (hereinafter OSM 2006 ANALYSIS).   

  22.   On June 22, 2006, the FSB met in executive session to develop the 

list of communities and areas they believed to be nonrural.  Based on a review of 

community information, input from the OSM staff, and the affected public, the FSB 

published a proposed rule on August 14, 2006 finding that Saxman should not be grouped 

with Ketchikan and that Saxman retain its rural status.  72 Fed. Reg. at 46,420.  The 

proposed rule reasoned that even though the grouping criteria would indicate Saxman 

should be included in the Ketchikan area, “the unique socioeconomic characteristics of 

Saxman suggest that it should remain separate from the Ketchikan Area.”  Id.  The 

proposed rule noted that Saxman is “socially and politically separate from Ketchikan” 

and that a number of socioeconomic indicators suggested distinctions between the 

communities, including Saxman’s “higher unemployment rate, lower per capita income, 

higher percentage of residents below the poverty level, and a 70 percent [Alaska] Native 

population.” Id.  The proposed rule also described that residents of Saxman “depend 

much more heavily on the harvest of subsistence resources” than do residents of 

Ketchikan.  Id. 

  23. After the publication of the proposed rule, the FSB held public 

hearings in Ketchikan and Saxman in September 2006.  The public testimony 

overwhelmingly supported the FSB’s proposed rule of maintaining Saxman’s rural status.  

OFFICE OF SUBSISTENCE MANAGEMENT, RURAL DETERMINATIONS DECENNIAL REVIEW: 
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SUMMARY OF COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS AND PUBLIC COMMENTS ON THE AUGUST 

2006 PROPOSED RULE AND CONSIDERATIONS IN RESPONSE 7-8 (Nov. 27, 2006).  Written 

comments submitted to the FSB were also overwhelmingly in favor of Saxman’s 

continued rural status.  Id. at 14.  In addition, the Southeastern Alaska Federal 

Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (SERAC) concurred with the FSB’s proposed 

rule to maintain the rural status of Saxman.  72 Fed. Reg. at 25,690.  Thus, neither the 

record of the public hearings nor comments received on the proposed rule, nor the 

decision of the SERAC, nor the technical analysis prepared by OSM staff pointed to a 

conclusion that differed from the FSB’s proposed rule published on August 14, 2006.   

  24.  Despite the overwhelming weight of written comments, public 

testimony at multiple FSB meetings, and SERAC’s recommendation in favor of retaining 

Saxman’s rural status, the FSB ignored its proposed rule of August 16, 2006 and voted to 

group Saxman with Ketchikan at its public meeting on December 13, 2006.  The FSB 

relied solely on the three grouping criteria to administratively link Saxman to Ketchikan.  

The FSB did not evaluate the unique characteristics that demonstrate that Saxman is a 

separate, distinct rural community where the majority of residents continue to live a 

subsistence way of life. 

  25.  As a consequence of this decision, Saxman was reclassified as a 

nonrural community and Saxman residents thus lost their subsistence priority under 

ANILCA.  The FSB published its decision to include Saxman in the Ketchikan nonrural 

area at 72 Fed. Reg. 25,695.  This decision became final on June 6, 2007.  Existing 

rural/nonrural determinations, following the final rule published May 7, 2007, are 
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described in federal subsistence regulations at 36 C.F.R. § 242.23 and 50 C.F.R. § 

100.23. 

26.  On July 6, 2007, OVS and the City of Saxman jointly requested 

that the FSB reconsider and rescind its decision under 36 C.F.R. § 242.20 and 50 C.F.R. 

§ 100.20.  This request for reconsideration, RFR07-06, was received within the time 

required by Federal subsistence regulations.  The request for reconsideration included 

new information not previously considered by the FSB, including two new reports 

specifically addressing Saxman’s rural status and the FSB’s arbitrary grouping 

methodology. ROBERT J. WOLFE, SAXMAN AND RURAL DETERMINATIONS (June 29, 

2007); DANIEL MONTEITH, SAXMAN RURAL DETERMINATION (July 2, 2007). 

27. In a press release dated July 29, 2008, the FSB announced that it 

had rejected OVS’s request for reconsideration.  On August 15, 2008, the FSB mailed 

OVS notice of the denial of OVS’s request for reconsideration.  This notice was in the 

form of a letter from Michael R. Fleagle, then Chair of the FSB, informing OVS that the 

FSB had concluded that “none of the claims meet the criteria to warrant further 

reconsideration as set forth in 50 C.F.R. Part 100.20.”   

28. With the FSB’s denial of OVS’ request for reconsideration, OVS 

exhausted its administrative remedies under 16 U.S.C. § 3117.   

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 Failure to Provide a Priority for the Subsistence Uses of Rural Residents 

(Violation of ANILCA § 804 and 821, 16 U.S.C. §§ 3114 and 3121, and APA, 5 

U.S.C. § 706(2)(a), (d))    

 

  29. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate by reference the allegations 

contained in the foregoing paragraphs 1-28. 
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30. Sections 804 and 821 of ANILCA, 16 U.S.C. §§ 3114 and 3121, 

impose nondiscretionary duties on Defendants to take appropriate administrative action to 

provide a priority for subsistence uses of fish and wildlife on federal public lands for 

rural residents. 

31.   Nothing in Title VIII of ANILCA requires that communities or an 

area be aggregated or grouped before deciding whether they are rural or nonrural.  

Nevertheless, the FSB has adopted criteria to determine when communities may be 

grouped together for rural determination purposes. 

32.    The criteria are: (1) Do 30% or more of the working people 

commute form one community to another? (2) Do the communities share a common high 

school attendance area? (3) Are the communities in proximity and road-accessible to one 

another?  72 Fed. Reg. at 25,690. 

33. FSB’s aggregation criteria are arbitrary and capricious and deny 

OVS’s members the ability to continue in the customary and traditional harvests of wild, 

renewable resources for their own use by failing to account for the economic, social, and 

communal independence of Saxman in violation of 16 U.S.C. § 3121 and 5 U.S.C. § 

706(2)(a) (d). 

34. This violation of ANILCA and the APA by Defendants threaten 

Plaintiff with irreparable injury for which they have no other adequate remedy at law.  

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 Failure to Comply with the Administrative Procedures Act 

(Violation of APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(a)) 

    
35. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate by reference the allegations 

Case 3:14-cv-00147-SLG   Document 1   Filed 07/25/14   Page 13 of 16



 

Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief      Page 14 of 16 

Organized Village of Saxman v. Towarak, et al.   Case No. 3:14-cv-            

 

contained in the foregoing paragraphs 1-34. 

36. Defendants’ designation of Saxman as nonrural is arbitrary, 

capricious, an abuse of discretion, otherwise not in accordance with law, short of 

statutory right, and without observance of procedure required by law, in violation of 5 

U.S.C. §706(2)(A), as follows: 

  37. The purpose of the FSB’s decennial review was to consider the 

original 1990 rural determinations “with an emphasis on what ha[d] changed since 1990.”  

71 Fed. Reg. at 46,417.  Public testimony, relevant data, and staff reports and analyses 

gathered over 2005 and 2006 demonstrated that very little had changed for Saxman since 

1990.  No pertinent new information was presented during various hearings and FSB 

meetings that would lead to Saxman’s reclassification as nonrural.  Yet on December 13, 

2006 the FSB ignored its own proposed rule of August 16, 2006 and voted to group 

Saxman with Ketchikan. 

38. This violation of the APA by Defendants threatens Plaintiff with 

irreparable injury for which they have no other adequate remedy at law.  

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 Failure to Comply with the Administrative Procedures Act 

(Violation of APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 553, 706(2)(d)) 

    
39. Plaintiffs repeat and incorporate by reference the allegations 

contained in the foregoing paragraphs 1-38. 

  40. The APA’s requirement at 5 U.S.C. § 553 that an agency provide 

notice and an opportunity to comment on a proposed rule is fundamental to 

administrative law and the right to due process.  On August 14, 2006, the FSB published 
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its proposed rule finding that Saxman should not be grouped with Ketchikan and that 

Saxman retain its rural status.  72 Fed. Reg. at 46,420.  Despite the overwhelming weight 

of written comments, public testimony, SERAC’s recommendation in favor of retaining 

Saxman’s rural status, and the FSB’s own rationale articulated in the proposed rule, the 

FSB ignored its proposed rule of August 16, 2006 and voted to group Saxman with 

Ketchikan.  Doing so violated the notice and comment requirements of 5 U.S.C. § 553 

and § 706(2)(d).  The FSB fundamentally changed its proposed rule and was obliged 

under the APA to give notice of the revised rule and allow another opportunity for public 

comment. 

41. This violation of the APA by Defendants threatens Plaintiff with 

irreparable injury for which they have no other adequate remedy at law.  

RELIEF SOUGHT 

  WHEREFORE Plaintiff prays that the Court: 

  a. Enter a declaratory judgment that Defendants’ designation of 

Saxman as nonrural is in violation of section 805 of ANILCA and the APA, and is 

therefore void and of no legal effect;  

  b. Declare the Final Rule invalid, and enjoin its enforcement and 

implementation; 

   c. Award Plaintiff its costs and reasonable attorney’s fees; and 

  d. Award Plaintiff such other relief as the court deems just and 

equitable, and to which Plaintiff is entitled. 

  DATED this 24th day of July, 2014. 
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Respectfully submitted,  

 

/s hkendall-miller 

 

/s edougherty 

 

/s mnewman 

 

Heather R. Kendall-Miller (ABA No. 9211084) 

Erin C. Dougherty (ABA No. 0811076)  

Matthew N. Newman (ABA No. 1305023) 
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